Guidance Statement GS 016 *Bank Confirmation Requests*

Issued by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board



Australian Government

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board

Obtaining a Copy of this Guidance Statement

This Guidance Statement is available on the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB) website: www.auasb.gov.au

Contact Details

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board Level 20, 500 Collins Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 AUSTRALIA Phone: (03) 8080 7400 E-mail: enquiries@auasb.gov.au

Postal Address: PO Box 204, Collins Street West Melbourne Victoria 8007 AUSTRALIA

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB). The text, graphics and layout of this Guidance Statement are protected by Australian copyright law and the comparable law of other countries. Reproduction within Australia in unaltered form (retaining this notice) is permitted for personal and non-commercial use subject to the inclusion of an acknowledgment of the source as being the AUASB.

Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights for commercial purposes should be addressed to the Technical Director, Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, PO Box 204, Collins Street West, Melbourne, Victoria 8007 or sent to <u>enquiries@auasb.gov.au</u>. Otherwise, no part of this Guidance Statement may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of the AUASB except as permitted by law.

ISSN 1833-7600

Important Note

Guidance Statements are developed and issued by the AUASB to provide guidance to auditors and assurance practitioners on the application of AUASB Standards and, where relevant, legislation regulation or other authoritative publications, to assist auditors and assurance practitioners to comply with AUASB Standards. Guidance Statements are intended to assist auditors and assurance practitioners in applying an existing standard or standards of general application to particular circumstances or specialised industries/sectors.

Guidance Statements are designed to provide assistance to auditors and assurance practitioners to achieve the objective(s) of the audit or other assurance engagement. Accordingly, Guidance Statements refer to, and are written in the context of specific AUASB Standard(s); and, where relevant, legislation, regulation or other authoritative publication. Guidance Statements are not aimed at providing guidance covering all aspects of the audit or other assurance engagement.

Guidance Statements, whilst formally approved and issued by the AUASB, do not establish new principles or amend existing standards. Guidance Statements therefore do not include any additional requirements or extend or vary the existing requirements of any AUASB Standards and are not legally enforceable.

Guidance Statement GS 016 *Bank Confirmation Requests* provides supplementary application and other explanatory material in relation to selected issues identified as presenting challenges in applying AUASB Standards in the public sector. It is not, and is not intended to be, a substitute for compliance with relevant AUASB Standard(s) and auditors and assurance practitioners are required to comply with the relevant AUASB Standard(s) when conducting an audit or other assurance engagement.

CONTENTS

AUTHORITY STATEMENT

CONFORMITY WITH INTERNATIONAL PRONOUNCEMENTS

| | Paragraphs |
|---|------------|
| Application | 1 |
| Issuance Date | 2 |
| Introduction | 3 |
| Scope of this Guidance Statement | 4 |
| Definitions | 5 |
| The Confirmation Process in AUASB Standards | |
| Deciding Whether to Request a Bank Confirmation | |
| The Nature and Reliability of Evidence Obtained from a Bank Confirmation | |
| Remaining Alert to the Possibility of Fraud | |
| The Auditor's Responsibility for the Confirmation Process | |
| Electronic Confirmation Process | |
| Maintaining Control of an Electronic Confirmation Request | |
| Paper-Based Confirmation Process | |
| Maintaining Control of a Paper-Based External Confirmation Request | |
| Results of the Bank Confirmation Process | |
| Disclaimers or Restrictive Language | |
| Appendix 1 Bank Confirmation – Audit Request (General) | |
| Appendix 2 Bank Confirmation – Audit Request (Treasury and Other Operations) | |
| Appendix 3 Example Letter – Customer Request and Authority to Disclose Information | |

AUTHORITY STATEMENT

The Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB) formulates Guidance Statement GS 016 *Bank Confirmation Requests* pursuant to section 227B of the *Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001*, for the purposes of providing guidance on auditing and assurance matters.

This Guidance Statement provides guidance to assist the auditor to achieve the objective(s) of the audit or other assurance engagement. It includes explanatory material on specific matters for the purposes of understanding and complying with AUASB Standards. The auditor exercises professional judgement when using this Guidance Statement.

This Guidance Statement does not prescribe or create new requirements.

Dated: 7 June 2022

W R Edge Chair – AUASB

CONFORMITY WITH INTERNATIONAL PRONOUNCEMENTS

This Guidance Statement has been formulated for Australian public interest purposes and accordingly there is no equivalent Internal Auditing Practice Note (IAPN) issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB), an independent standard-setting board of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC).

GUIDANCE STATEMENT GS 016

Bank Confirmation Requests

Application

1. This Guidance Statement has been formulated by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB) to provide guidance to auditors on meeting the requirements of relevant AUASB Standards when external confirmation procedures are performed regarding an entity's banking activities, including treasury operations.

Issuance Date

2. This Guidance Statement is issued on 7 June 2022 by the AUASB and replaces GS 016 *Bank Confirmation Requests*, issued in June 2010.

Introduction

3. This Guidance Statement, in addition to providing guidance for auditors when performing paper-based external confirmations, addresses the impact of the use of technological resources by the auditor on the external confirmation process, including technological resources from a service provider.

Scope of this Guidance Statement

4. This Guidance Statement provides supplementary guidance for auditors in meeting their responsibilities in ASA 505 *External Confirmations* where the auditor has determined, in accordance with ASA 330 *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*, that external bank confirmation procedures are to be performed as part of the audit.

Definitions

5. For definitions, refer to the AUASB Glossary.

The Confirmation Process in AUASB Standards

Deciding Whether to Request a Bank Confirmation

- 6. ASA 330 requires the auditor to design and implement overall responses to address the risks of material misstatement identified and assessed by the auditor in accordance with ASA 315 *Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement* in an audit of a financial report. In particular, ASA 330 requires the auditor to consider whether external confirmation procedures are to be performed.¹
- 7. The auditor may determine that bank confirmation procedures are to be performed when the entity's banking activities, including treasury operations, are:
 - (a) significant;
 - (b) complex;
 - (c) unusual;
 - (d) have a heightened risk of fraud; or

¹ See ASA 330, paragraphs 19 and A50-A53.

- (e) there are deficiencies in the entity's control environment that may impact the assertions and disclosures regarding the entity's banking activities.
- 8. In other instances, when:
 - (a) an entity's banking activities are simple and straightforward;
 - (b) the auditor has considered the entity's control environment and assessed the risk of material misstatement of bank-related account balances and disclosures as low; and
 - (c) there are other means to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence in respect of banking activities;

the auditor may decide not to request a bank confirmation.

- 9. The information to be confirmed may relate to:
 - (a) normal banking activities, such as:
 - (i) account balances at the period end for current accounts, interest bearing deposit accounts, foreign currency accounts, money market deposits, overdraft accounts, bank loans and term loans;
 - (ii) interest rates and terms of other liabilities to the bank, such as bills of exchange, forward exchange contracts, letters of credit, guarantees and indemnities undertaken by the bank;
 - (iii) items held as security for the entity's liabilities to the bank;
 - (iv) accounts opened or closed by the entity during the period; and
 - (v) unused limits and facilities; and/or
 - (b) treasury operations, such as:
 - (i) forward rate agreements;
 - (ii) foreign currency contracts;
 - (iii) interest rate swaps;
 - (iv) options;
 - (v) treasury futures contracts; and
 - (vi) other contractual arrangements.
- 10. Although external confirmations may provide relevant audit evidence relating to certain assertions, there are assertions for which external confirmations provide less relevant audit evidence. For example, external confirmation procedures may provide audit evidence for the existence assertion but not the accuracy, valuation and allocation or completeness assertions. In such circumstances, it may be necessary to consider performing alternative or additional audit procedures to address these assertions.

The Nature and Reliability of Evidence Obtained from a Bank Confirmation

- 11. ASA 500 Audit Evidence requires the auditor to design and perform audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence, and consider the relevance and reliability of information to be used as audit evidence in an audit of a financial report.^{2,3}
- The reliability of audit evidence is influenced by its source and by its nature and is dependent 12. on the individual circumstances under which it is obtained.⁴ The reliability of the evidence obtained from information contained in a response to a bank confirmation request, is influenced by the circumstances in which the request is made and the response received.
- 13. Whilst exceptions may exist, the reliability of audit evidence is generally increased when it is obtained from independent sources outside the entity, and obtained directly by the auditor.⁵ However, even when audit evidence, such as a bank confirmation, is obtained from sources external to the entity, circumstances may exist that could affect the reliability of the information obtained. For example, all confirmation responses carry some risk of interception, alteration or fraud. Such risk exists regardless of whether a response is obtained in paper form, or through electronic or other medium.
- 14. ASA 200 requires the auditor to plan and perform an audit with professional scepticism recognising that circumstances may exist that cause the financial report to be materially misstated.⁶ Unless the auditor has reason to believe the contrary, the auditor may accept records and documents as genuine.⁷ If there is any indication that a confirmation response may not be reliable. ASA 505 emphasises the need for the auditor to consider the response's reliability and to perform audit procedures to dispel any concern (for example, the auditor may choose to verify the source and contents of the response in a telephone call to the purported sender).8

Remaining Alert to the Possibility of Fraud

- 15. While the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the entity and management,⁹ the auditor, in exercising professional scepticism, remains alert to the possibility of fraud in the bank confirmation process.
- When determining whether to use bank confirmation requests, the auditor may consider the 16. entity's circumstances and its environment, the circumstances surrounding the confirmation process, and the information obtained from the confirmation process that may indicate a risk of material misstatement.
- 17. Being alert to the possibility of fraud may be particularly important when an external confirmation is the primary audit evidence for a material financial report item, particularly if the item itself is susceptible to fraud. This risk may arise, for example, when requesting confirmation of the existence of liquid funds and investments held by the entity in an offshore bank. In such circumstances, it may be necessary to consider performing alternative or additional audit procedures.
- Professional scepticism is necessary to the critical assessment of audit evidence. For example, 18. when dealing with unusual or unexpected responses to confirmation requests, such as a

See ASA 500, paragraph 6.

See ASA 500, paragraphs 7 and A30-A44.

See ASA 500, paragraph A9. See ASA 500, paragraph A9. See ASA 500, paragraph A35 and ASA 505, paragraph 2.

See ASA 200, paragraph 15. See ASA 200, paragraph 15. See ASA 200, paragraph A24. See ASA 505, paragraph 10. See ASA 240 *The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of a Financial Report*, paragraph 4.

significant change in the number or timeliness of responses to bank confirmation requests relative to prior audits, or a non-response when a response would be expected.

The Auditor's Responsibility for the Confirmation Process

- 19. Whilst there are a range of ways in which a confirmation may be performed, regardless of the method, the auditor remains responsible for meeting the requirements of the ASAs. In particular, the auditor is responsible for maintaining control of the confirmation process.¹⁰
- 20. Maintaining control over the confirmation process mitigates (but does not eliminate) the risk of interception, alteration or fraud. Where the auditor has maintained control of the confirmation process the reliability of the results of the confirmation are increased.
- 21. The auditor's approach to supporting that they have maintained control over the confirmation process depends on whether they have used an electronic or paper-based confirmation process. This guidance statement provides guidance on the auditor's responsibilities where the auditor has used:
 - (a) An electronic confirmation process (paragraphs 22-38); or
 - (b) A paper-based confirmation process (paragraphs 39-42).

Electronic Confirmation Process

- 22. To make the external confirmation process more efficient and effective, auditors and banks have been increasingly relying on new technologies to facilitate the bank confirmation process. ASA 505 does not preclude the use of an electronic confirmation process or the acceptance of electronic confirmations as audit evidence.
- 23. Electronic confirmations in the context of this Guidance Statement, refers to the auditor using a technological resource which automates the entire, or part of, the confirmation process. Examples of these technologies include, service providers who establish a secure platform through which the confirming party and auditor communicate directly, or other technological resource which directly interfaces with the confirming party's systems such as an Application Programming Interface (API).
- 24. Email and facsimile are largely paper-based confirmation processes using technology, they have been excluded from electronic confirmations in the context of this Guidance Statement and are captured under paper-based confirmations.

Maintaining Control of an Electronic Confirmation Request

- 25. When an electronic confirmation process is used, the auditor may be relying on the processes and controls of an external party or the firm to maintain control over the external confirmation process.
- 26. The procedures the auditor performs to maintain control over the confirmation process may be dependent on whether the electronic confirmation resource is a technological resource that has been approved for use by the firm. Where the technological resource is not approved for use by the firm, additional procedures may need to be performed to evidence that the auditor has maintained control over the confirmation process.

Electronic Confirmation Resources Approved by the Firm

27. An electronic confirmation resource whether developed or obtained by the firm, or from a service provider, is a technological resource that is used directly by the engagement team in

¹⁰ See ASA 505, paragraph 7.

the performance of the engagement. Where the auditor is using an electronic confirmation resource approved for use by the firm, the firm, in accordance with the quality objective of ASQM 1¹¹, has been through a quality management process so that the technological resource is appropriate for the use in the performance of engagements.

- When making a technological resource available to engagement teams¹², a firm may consider 28. a number of matters including:
 - The technological resource operates as designed and achieves the purpose for which it (a) is intended:
 - (b) Confidentiality of the data is preserved;
 - (c) The need to develop procedures that set out how the technological resource operates.
- 29. Where the technological resource made available to the engagement team for use in the performance of engagements comes from a service provider¹³, there are further considerations that the firm may consider, including:
 - The nature and scope of the use of the technological resource; (a)
 - The extent to which the technological resource is used; (b)
 - How the service provider intends to maintain the technological resources. (c)
- 30. In meeting the quality objective that appropriate technological resources are used in the performance of engagements, the firm may consider obtaining control reports¹⁴ for the technological resource and reviewing areas that address relevant areas to maintaining control of the confirmation process.
- Where a report is expected to be used as audit evidence, the requirements of ASA 402¹⁵ may 31. provide an appropriate framework for the firm's evaluation of the appropriateness of the resource.
- 32. Once a firm considers that the technological resource is appropriate for use in the performance of engagements, the firm may monitor for changes in the environment since the report was issued and consider whether those changes in the environment would impact on the firm's ability to rely on the report.
- 33. Where a report is not able to be provided or is not sufficiently reliable for the intended purpose, as an alternative the firm may perform direct testing of the design and operating effectiveness of the technological resource's relevant controls.
- 34. Once the technological resource is approved by the firm, the firm may establish policies and procedures for the engagement team's use of the technological resource. For example the firm may have a policy limiting use to specifically approved personnel, or have a policy that only resources on a firm approved list can be used.

¹¹ See ASQM 1 Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Reports and Other Financial Information, or *Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements*, paragraph 32 (f) and 32 (h). See ASQM 1, paragraphs A100. 12

¹³

See ASQM 1, paragraph A107. For example, ASAE 3402 Assurance Reports on Controls at a Service Organisation reports or Independent Service Auditor's Reports on Service Organisation Controls (SOC reports). See ASA 402 Auditing Considerations Relating to an Entity Using a Service Organisation. 14

¹⁵

The Engagement Partner's Responsibility where the Technological Resource is Approved by the Firm

- 35. ASA 220 *Quality Management for an Audit of a Financial Report and Other Historical Financial Information* addresses the engagement partner's responsibility to use the resources provided by the firm, including technological resources.¹⁶
- 36. When using technological resources approved by the firm, the engagement partner is ordinarily able to rely on the firm's policies and procedures to approve that resource for use. To be able to rely on the firm's approval of the resource, the engagement team follows the firm's policies and procedures around the use of the technological resource, including whether specialist expertise is required and remains alert for any information throughout the engagement that may indicate that the firm's policies and procedures related to the resource are not operating effectively.

The Engagement Partner's Responsibility where the Technological Resource is Not Approved by the Firm

- 37. Not all technological resources used by the engagement team in the performance of an engagement will be a resource approved by the firm. Where a technological resource is used in the confirmation process and it is not approved by the firm, the engagement partner is responsible for performing procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence that the technological resource is appropriate for use in the circumstances.
- 38. The engagement team may perform procedures based on paragraphs 28-34.

Paper-Based Confirmation Process

- 39. As outlined in paragraphs 23 and 24, in the context of this Guidance Statement, paper-based confirmations refers to confirmation procedures which do not use a technological resource to automate the entire, or part of, the confirmation process.
- 40. In consultation with the Australian Bankers' Association (ABA), the AUASB previously developed three standard paper-based bank confirmation request forms. The forms are:
 - (a) Appendix 1 Bank Confirmation—Audit Request (General) the information to be confirmed or requested relates to normal banking activities and is substantially the same for a range of entities;
 - (b) Appendix 2 Bank Confirmation—Audit Request (Treasury and Other Operations) the information to be confirmed or requested relates to the entity's treasury operations and use of treasury management instruments; and
 - (c) Appendix 3 Example letter Customer Request and Authority to Disclose Information.

These forms are also available as separate documents on the AUASB website¹⁷, to facilitate their use in the confirmation process, if required.

41. While the standard bank confirmation request forms will generally provide the information required by the auditor in a range of audit engagements, there may be instances where the standard forms are not appropriate. For example, the auditor may require confirmation of matters not covered by the standard bank confirmation request forms and may write a separate letter requesting confirmation of specific matters.

¹⁶ See ASA 220, paragraphs 25–28.

¹⁷ See www.auasb.gov.au

Maintaining Control of a Paper-Based External Confirmation Request

- 42. When using paper-based bank confirmations, the auditor maintains control over the process through:18
 - determining the bank information to be requested: (a)
 - (b) selecting the appropriate confirming party(parties);
 - (c) designing the bank confirmation request, ensuring that it:
 - (i) is properly addressed;
 - (ii) is clear, accurate and sufficiently detailed; and
 - (iii) contains an accurate return address, for responses to be sent directly to the auditor.
 - considering the timing of the lodgement of the request and the date by which a (d) response is required; and
 - (e) taking follow-up action when a response is overdue.

Results of the Bank Confirmation Process

- 43. The auditor evaluates the bank's response to a bank confirmation request, whether electronic or paper-based, and determines whether the response provides relevant and reliable audit evidence, or whether further audit evidence is required.¹⁹
- 44. The auditor may need to carry out additional audit procedures. For example, it is generally unwarranted for the auditor to place sole reliance on the information obtained through a bank confirmation request to satisfy the completeness assertion. This may be due to various factors such as:
 - other audit procedures indicate doubt as to the completeness of the information (a) provided by the bank;
 - (b) a question on the bank confirmation request remains unanswered by the bank;
 - the auditor considers there is a risk that material accounts, agreements or transactions (c) exist, that have not been disclosed in the bank confirmation;
 - the bank's disclaimer regarding the information provided; or (d)
 - (e) limitations arising from the bank's ability to gather all information in respect of an entity's banking activities.
- 45. The auditor may consider performing additional audit procedures to obtain audit evidence over the completeness of information about the entity's banking activities, including treasury operations. The appropriateness of performing such procedures is dependent on the entity's circumstances and the assessed level of risk, and may include:
 - requesting separate confirmation of the completeness of the information directly from (a) the entity's relationship manager at the bank;

See ASA 505, paragraph 7. See ASA 505, paragraphs 10-11 and 16.

- contacting the bank separately about specific issues of concern; (b)
- performing additional journal entry test work around cash and disbursements and (c) reviewing cash transactions for unusual flows of funds;
- (d) asking the entity to include a paragraph in the management representation letter confirming that the bank information is complete;
- reviewing minutes of meetings where new bank accounts or arrangements may have (e) been agreed; or
- enquiring of the entity's treasury department, or other appropriate personnel in the (f) entity, whether they are aware of any additional banking arrangements.
- 46. On its own, an oral response to a bank confirmation request does not meet the definition of an external confirmation because it is not a direct written response to the auditor in paper form or by electronic or other medium²⁰. However, upon obtaining an oral response to a bank confirmation request, the auditor may, depending on the circumstances, request the bank to respond in writing directly to the auditor in paper form, or by electronic or other medium. If no such response is received, in accordance with ASA 505,²¹ the auditor seeks other audit evidence to support the information in the oral response.

Disclaimers or Restrictive Language

- 47. The auditor may receive a confirmation response containing a disclaimer or restrictive language. Such restrictions do not necessarily invalidate the reliability of the response as audit evidence²². In general, the auditor may reasonably rely upon information given by the bank provided it corroborates the assertions made by management and is not clearly wrong, suspicious, inconsistent in itself, ambiguous, or in conflict with other evidence gathered during the course of the audit, even where the response includes a standard disclaimer of liability.
- However, certain restrictive language may cast doubt on the completeness or accuracy of the 48. information contained in the response, or the auditor's ability to rely on that information. Examples of such restrictive language include statements such as:
 - (a) Information is obtained from electronic data sources, which may not contain all information in the bank's possession.
 - Information is not guaranteed to be accurate nor current and may be a matter of (b) opinion.
 - (c) The recipient may not rely upon the information in the bank confirmation.
- 49. Whether the auditor may rely on the information confirmed and the degree of such reliance depends on the nature and substance of the restrictive language. Where the practical effect of the restrictive language is difficult to ascertain in the particular circumstances, the auditor may consider it appropriate to seek clarification from the bank or seek legal advice.
- 50. If restrictive language limits the extent to which the auditor can rely on the bank confirmation response as audit evidence, additional or alternative audit procedures may need to be performed²³. The nature and extent of such procedures depends on factors such as the nature of the item being confirmed, the assertion being tested, the nature and substance of the restrictive language, and relevant information obtained through other audit procedures. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence through alternative or

²⁰ See ASA 505, paragraph 6(a).

See ASA 505, paragraph 12. See ASA 505, paragraph A16. See ASA 330, paragraphs 25-27. 21 22

²³

additional audit procedures, the auditor is required to consider the implications for the auditor's report in accordance with ASA 705^{24} .

²⁴ See ASA 705 Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report.

Appendix 1 Bank Confirmation – Audit Request (General)

(Ref: Para. 40a)

Instructions

Auditor

- (a) Complete all known details in the shaded areas of this form before forwarding to the bank, including all known account names and the corresponding BSB and account numbers.
- (b) If the space provided on the form is inadequate, attach a separate request giving full details of the information required.

Bank

- (a) Confirm that the details provided in the shaded areas are correct as at the confirmation date shown below, and highlight any variation/s. Also add any relevant information that may have been omitted by the customer/auditor.
- (b) Complete the unshaded areas in sections 1-10.
- (c) Sign the completed form and return the original direct to the auditor, and a duplicate to the customer, in the stamped addressed envelopes provided. A copy may be retained by the bank.

| Bank (Name & Address) | Customer/Entity (Name & Address) |
|-----------------------|---|
| | |
| | "Entity" includes companies, companies in a parent-subsidiary relationship, joint ventures, |
| | partnerships, trusts, and unincorporated associations. |
| | |

| Auditor (Name & Address) | Confirmation Date (DD/MM/YYYY) |
|--|---|
| Contact Name: | Authority to Disclose Information attached Yes/No |
| Telephone Number: Fax Number: Email Address: | Third Party Authority attached Yes/No/ Not applicable |
| Date of Audit Request (DD/MM/YYYY) | Request for Acknowledgement attached Yes/No |

1. CREDIT ACCOUNT BALANCES

Provide details of all account balances in favour of the bank customer as at the confirmation date, in respect of current accounts, interest bearing deposits, foreign currency accounts, convertible certificates of deposit, money market deposits, cash management trusts and any other credit balances. Provide details for the accounts listed below and for any other accounts not listed.

Provide details of any account or balance that is subject to any restriction(s) whatsoever and indicate the nature and extent of the restriction, e.g. garnishee order.

| Account Name | BSB Number | Account Number | Currency | Balance |
|---|-----------------------|----------------|----------------------|-------------|
| Auditor/customer to complete known details in shaded area | s | | Bank to complete uns | haded areas |
| | | | | |
| Bank to provide information on other accounts not identifie | d by auditor/customer | | | |
| r | | | | |
| | | | | |

2. DEBIT ACCOUNT BALANCES

Provide details of all account balances owed to the bank by the bank customer as at the confirmation date, in respect of overdraft accounts, bank loans, term loans, credit cards and any other debit balances.

Provide details of any account or balance that is subject to any restriction(s) whatsoever and indicate the nature and extent of the restriction, e.g. garnishee order.

| Account Name | BSB Number | Account Number | Currency | Balance |
|---|-----------------------|----------------|----------------------|-------------|
| Auditor/customer to complete known details in shaded area | s | | Bank to complete uns | haded areas |
| Bank to provide information on other accounts not identifie | d by auditor/customer | | | |

3. PROMISSORY NOTES/BILLS OF EXCHANGE HELD FOR COLLECTION ON BEHALF OF THE CUSTOMER (Bank to complete)

| Maker/Acceptor | Due Date | Balance |
|----------------|----------|---------|
| | | |

4. CUSTOMER'S OTHER LIABILITIES TO THE BANK (Bank to complete)

Provide details of the following as at the confirmation date:

(a) Acceptances, bills discounted with recourse to the customer or any subsidiary or related party of the customer, endorsed drafts/notes, forward exchange contracts, letters of credit, liability in respect of shipping documents where customer's account not yet debited.

(b) Bonds, guarantees, indemnities or other undertakings given to the bank by the customer in favour of third parties (including separately any such items in favour of any subsidiary or related party of the customer). Give details of the parties in favour of whom guarantees or undertakings have been given, whether such guarantees or undertakings are written or oral and their nature.

- (c) Bonds guarantees, indemnities or other undertakings given by you, on your customer's behalf, stating whether there is recourse to your customer and/or any other related entity.
- (d) Other liabilities—give details.

| Nature of Liability | Terms of Liability | Currency | Name of Beneficiary | Balance |
|---------------------|--------------------|----------|---------------------|---------|
| | | | | |

5. ITEMS HELD AS SECURITY FOR CUSTOMER'S LIABILITIES TO THE BANK (Bank to complete)

With respect to items held as security for customer's liabilities to the bank indicate whether the security:

- (a) relates to particular borrowings or liabilities to the bank and whether it is lodged in the customer's name or by a third party. (If lodged by a third party, that party's authority to disclose details must be attached).
- (b) is formally charged (provide details of date, ownership and type of charge);
- (c) supports facilities granted by the bank to the customer or to another party.
- (d) is limited in amount or to a specific borrowing or, if to your knowledge, there is a prior, equal or subordinate charge;

Provide details of any arrangements for set-off of balances or compensating balances e.g., back to back loans. Include details of date, type of document and account covered, any acknowledgement of set-off, whether given by specific letter of set-off or incorporated in some other document;

Provide details of any negative pledge arrangements that exist.

Provide details here

6. LEASES (Bank to complete)

Provide details of all known finance leasing commitments

| Leased Item | Restrictions / Special Arrangements | Lease Term | Currency | Implicit Interest Rate | Repayment Terms | Balance |
|-------------|---|------------|----------|------------------------------|-----------------|---------|
| | | | | | | |

7. ACCOUNTS OPENED/CLOSED (Bank to complete)

List details of any accounts opened or closed during the twelve months prior to confirmation date.

| Account Name | BSB Number | Account Number | Open or Closed? | Date opened/closed |
|--------------|------------|----------------|-----------------|--------------------|
| | | | | |

8. UNUSED LIMITS/FACILITIES (Bank to complete)

Please confirm details of all available unused limits/facilities at confirmation date.

| Types of Facility | Facility Limit | Unused Limit | Terms of Facility Use |
|-------------------|----------------|--------------|-----------------------|
| | | | |

9. DEFAULTS AND BREACHES (Bank to complete)

With reference to the customer's accounts with the bank, provide details of any defaults or breaches during the period and full details of such defaults and breaches. Include details, for example, of:

(a) loans payable in default at the confirmation date and whether they have since been re-negotiated, and

(b) bank covenants breached during the twelve months up to the confirmation date and whether the breach was remedied.

Provide details here

10. OTHER INFORMATION

Please confirm (see shaded area below) and/or provide any other details (unshaded area below) relating to any financial relationships not dealt with under sections to 1-9 above.

Auditor/customer to complete known details in shaded area

Bank to provide other information not identified by customer

11. BANK AUTHORISATION (Bank to complete)

This certificate has been completed from our records at(bank details).

The Bank and its staff are unable to warrant the correctness of that information and accordingly hereby disclaim all liability in respect of the same. The information contained herein is confidential and provided for private use in confirmation of our customer accounts for audit purposes only. It may not be used for any other purpose or by any other persons. In particular this is not a credit reference.

| AUTHORISED BY: | Other authorisation details (where applicable) |
|-------------------|--|
| Signature: | |
| Name (print name) | |
| Title | |
| Telephone Number | |
| Email Address | |
| Date Completed | |

Appendix 2 Bank Confirmation – Audit Request (Treasury and Other Operations)

(Ref: Para. 40b)

Instructions

Auditor

- (a) Complete all known details in the shaded areas of this form before forwarding to the bank, including all known account names and the corresponding account numbers.
- (b) If the space provided on the form is inadequate, attach a separate request giving the full details of the information required.

Bank

- (a) Confirm that the details provided in the shaded areas are correct as at the confirmation date shown below, and highlight any variation/s. Also add any relevant information that may have been omitted by the customer/auditor.
- (b) Complete the unshaded areas in sections 1-9.
- (d) Sign the completed form and return the original direct to the auditor, and a duplicate to the customer, in the stamped addressed envelopes provided. A copy may be retained by the bank.

| Bank (Name & Address) | Customer/Entity (Name & Address) |
|-----------------------|---|
| | |
| | "Entity" includes companies, companies in a parent-subsidiary relationship, joint ventures, |
| | partnerships, trusts, and unincorporated associations. |
| | |

| Auditor (Name & Address) | Confirmation Date (DD/MM/YYYY) |
|------------------------------------|---|
| Contact Name: Telephone Number: | Authority to Disclose Information attached Yes/No |
| Fax Number: Email Address: | Third Party Authority attached Yes/No/ Not applicable |
| Date of Audit Request (DD/MM/YYYY) | Request for Acknowledgement attached Yes/No |

1. BALANCES OF ACCOUNTS (DEPOSIT& ADVANCES), SECURITIES HELD

- (a) Please confirm details of all account balances as at the confirmation date.
- (b) Include details of: nostro accounts, vostro accounts, current accounts, interest bearing deposits, foreign currency accounts, convertible certificates of deposit, money market deposits, etc. Confirm details of any securities held for payment, e.g., Promissory Notes.
- (c) Confirm details of direct liabilities (bank & term loans etc), indicating the collateral lodged by the customer in respect to each outstanding loan. Details of repayment terms should also be confirmed.

| Account | Account | Balance | | | Interest | | Other | Maturity | Collateral |
|--------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------|---------------|----------|-----------|---------|----------|------------|
| Name | Number | DR/CR | Currency | Interest Rate | Accrued | Date Paid | Charges | Date | Lodged |
| Auditor/customer | to complete | Bank to complete un | ishaded areas | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| Bank to provide in | nformation on other acc | counts not identified b | y auditor/customer | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |

2. FORWARD RATE AGREEMENTS (FRAs) (Bank to complete)

Please confirm details of all outstanding forward rate agreement contracts at the confirmation date.

| Name and Number of contract | Period of Start Date | Contract Maturity Date | Notional Principal Amount | Currency | Contract/ Hedge Rate | Fixed/ Floating | Contract Borrower/ Contract Lender |
|--------------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------------|----------|-------------------------|--------------------|---------------------------------------|
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |

3. FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTRACTS (Bank to complete)

Please confirm details of all outstanding foreign exchange contracts at the confirmation date. Obligations to purchase/sell currency should be confirmed in terms of the bank's indebtedness.

| Purchase Currency | Amount | Sell Currency | Amount | Exchange Rate | Deal Date | Maturity Date |
|----------------------|--------|------------------|--------|---------------|--------------|------------------|
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

4. SINGLE CURRENCY INTEREST RATE SWAPS (Bank to complete)

Please confirm details of outstanding single currency interest rate swaps.

| | | Notional | | | Rece | ive | | | Pa | У | |
|------------|----------|-----------|----------|----------|-----------|----------|----------|----------|-----------|----------|-----------|
| | Maturity | Principal | | Fixed/ | Payment | Interest | Last | Fixed/ | Payment | Interest | Last Paid |
| Start Date | Date | Amount | Currency | Floating | Frequency | Rate | Received | Floating | Frequency | Rate | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

5. CROSS CURRENCY INTEREST RATE SWAPS (Bank to complete)

Please confirm details of outstanding cross-currency interest rate swaps.

| | | | Received/Purchase Currency | | | | |] | Pay/Sell Current | cy | |
|------------|------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------|------------------|------------------|---------------------------------|----------|----------------------|------------------|-----------|
| Start Date | Maturity Date | Notional Principal Amount | Currency | Payment Frequency | Interest Rate | Last Received | Notional Principal Amount | Currency | Payment Frequency | Interest Rate | Last Paid |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

6. OPTIONS CONTRACTS (e.g., INTEREST, CURRENCY AND COMMODITIES) (Bank to complete)

Please confirm details listed of outstanding options contracts as at the confirmation date. Indicate the nature of each option contract e.g., Interest Rate Options (cap, collar etc).

| Nature of Option Contract | Option Type American/ European | Premium | Strike Price | Currency | Expiry Date | Put/Call Option | Buy/Sell | Contracts Outstanding (No.) |
|------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---------|-----------------|----------|-------------|--------------------|----------|--------------------------------|
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

7. TREASURY FUTURES CONTRACTS (Bank to complete)

Please confirm details listed of outstanding Treasury Futures Contracts e.g., BABs, Bonds.

| Type of Futures Contract | Value Month | Number of Contracts | Funds on Deposit & Margin Calls | Long/Short | Contracted Sales Price |
|--------------------------|-------------|---------------------|------------------------------------|------------|---------------------------|
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

8. NETTING (OFFSET) ARRANGEMENTS (Bank to complete)

Please confirm the details of any arrangements for offset of compensating balances e.g., back to back loans. Give particulars of any acknowledgement of offset, whether given by specific letter of offset or incorporated in some other document (i.e., date, type of document and accounts covered).

| Item Subject to Netting Arrangements | Conditions of Netting |
|--------------------------------------|-----------------------|
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

9. OTHER CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Bank to complete)

Provide details of any other contractual arrangement(s) between the customer and the bank e.g., forward bank bills/bonds, repurchase agreements, transactions packaged as a unique product for the customer, bullion contracts, commodity contracts, swap arrangements (near and far dates), credit derivatives including collateralised debt obligations (CDOs), and others (indicate their nature).

| Nature of Contract | Deal Date | Maturity Date | Value Date | Face Value | Consideration | Coupon |
|-----------------------|--------------|------------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|--------|
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

10. BANK AUTHORISATION (Bank to complete)

This certificate has been completed from our records at(bank details).

The Bank and its staff are unable to warrant the correctness of that information and accordingly hereby disclaim all liability in respect of the same. The information contained herein is confidential and provided for private use in confirmation of our customer accounts for audit purposes only. It may not be used for any other purpose or by any other persons. In particular this is not a credit reference.

| AUTHORISED BY: | Other authorisation details (where applicable) |
|-------------------|--|
| Signature: | |
| Name (print name) | |
| Title | |
| Telephone Number | |
| Email Address | |
| Date Completed | |

Appendix 3 Example Letter – Customer Request and Authority to Disclose Information

(Ref: Para. 40c)

Addressee

Name of Bank

Address of Bank

Yours faithfully

Date

Dear

[Entity's (ies') Name(s)]²⁵—Bank Confirmation Request and Authority to Disclose Information

I/We²⁶ authorise you, [Name of Bank], including all branches and subsidiaries of the bank, to provide to our auditor [Name of Auditor] any information that the auditor may request from you regarding all and any of our accounts and dealings with you.

More specifically, it would be appreciated if you would complete and return, for audit purposes, the information requested in the attached form(s) by (insert date):

- Bank Confirmation—Audit Request (General)
- Bank Confirmation—Audit Request (Treasury and Other Operations)

Please mail the original of the completed form(s) direct to our auditor as named in the form(s) and the duplicate(s) to us in the stamped, addressed envelopes enclosed for this purpose.

Any charge for providing this information is to be debited to the following account: [insert account details]

(Authorising Officer' Signature)(Authorising Officer' Signature)(Authorising Officer's Name)(Authorising Officer's Name)(Authorising Officer's Title)(Authorising Officer's Title)

²⁵ The entity's (ies') name(s) on the Authority to Disclose letter should match the name(s) shown in the bank confirmation request.

 $^{^{26}}$ The person(s) signing this Authority to Disclose letter should be duly authorised to do so as the entity's representative.